IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1771

WILLIAM COX and MARTHA COX,

Petitioners,

VS.

ST. JOSEPH'S HOSPITAL, ERIC CASTELLUCCI, M.D., and EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION OF FLORIDA, LLC,

Respondents.		

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WAGNER, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A. 601 Bayshore Blvd., Suite 910 Tampa, Florida 33606

BRENNAN HOLDEN & KAVOUKLIS, P.A.

115 South Newport Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33606
-andPODHURST ORSECK, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

BY: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No. 203513

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. An overview.

At the age of 69, William Cox suffered a stroke, caused by a blood clot. ^{1/2} He was rushed to St. Joseph's Hospital by emergency medical personnel and came under the care of Dr. Eric Castellucci. Although he arrived in the emergency room within minutes of suffering the stroke -- well within the three-hour window for the administration of a tissue plasminogen activator drug (tPA), which dissolves blood clots -- neither the Hospital nor Dr. Castellucci bothered to determine the time of onset, and he was never given the drug as a result. The consequences were devastating. In a medical malpractice action brought by Mr. and Mrs. Cox against the Hospital, Dr. Castellucci and the doctor's LLC, the jury found that both the Hospital and Dr. Castellucci had acted in "reckless disregard" of Mr. Cox's health, and that their disregard caused Mr. Cox considerable damage.

Both defendants appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Second District. They did not challenge, and the district court did not disturb, the jury's finding of "reckless disregard." Based entirely upon a single decade-old study of the efficacy of tPA therapy -- the "NINDS study," a study in which the rate of success was 31% -- the defendants challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury's finding of fact that the defendants' reckless disregard of Mr. Cox's health

This introductory "overview" is taken from the face of the district court's decision. *St. Joseph's Hospital v. Cox*, 14 So.3d 1124 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009) (A. 1-5).

caused him damage. And based exclusively upon that decade-old study, the district court agreed with the defendants, disregarded expert medical opinion testimony proving a *prima facie* case of causation, reversed Mr. Cox's judgment, and ordered entry of a judgment in the defendants' favor.

The district court acknowledged that Mr. Cox presented the opinion testimony of two highly qualified experts -- an internationally recognized expert in the treatment of stroke patients, and the on-call neurologist who would have administered tPA to Mr. Cox if he had been called on time. And the district court acknowledged that both experts opined that, "to a high degree of medical probability" and "more likely than not," had Mr. Cox been given tPA treatment, he would have had a very good recovery.

The district court also acknowledged several of its own decisions holding that an expert opinion satisfying the "more likely than not" standard was sufficient to defeat a motion for directed verdict on the issue of causation, but declined to follow them because "the plaintiff's expert testimony on causation [in those cases] was not constrained by statistical evidence revealing success rates of less than fifty percent, as in this case" (A. 4). In addition, although the district court possessed no medical expertise on the subject itself, and actually set out in its opinion a number of the facts upon which one of the experts based her opinion, it declared the experts' causation opinions "speculative" because unsupported by sufficient "facts" upon which the opinions were based.

As we will demonstrate in the argument that follows, these conclusions are in express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal on at least two, and more likely four, questions of law. These conclusions are also erroneous as a matter of law. Initially, however, we will detail the facts underlying the issues presented here.²/

B. The defendants' "reckless disregard."

On the morning of January 19, 2001, 69-year old William Cox visited a used car dealership owned by a friend, Maria Rendon, to work on a model airplane (T. 669, 1179-82, 1326-27). Another friend of Ms. Rendon's, Julio Devilla, also visited the lot that morning; he spoke to Mr. Cox for several minutes, and Mr. Cox appeared normal to him at that time (T. 1182, 1210-12). Less than 15 minutes later, Mr. Devilla discovered Mr. Cox slumped over, appearing intoxicated, and unable to speak or walk (T. 1183-84, 1212-13, 1225-26, 1231, 1237). He immediately called 911 -- at 11:15 -- and Tampa Fire Rescue was dispatched to the scene (T. 637, 1213). Lt. Terry Oliver, the responding paramedic, arrived on scene at 11:21, evaluated Mr. Cox as a stroke patient, and learned from Mr.

Because the jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs, we will state the facts in a light most favorable to the verdict, with all conflicts resolved and all reasonable inferences drawn in the plaintiffs' favor -- as we are entitled to do. *See Goldberg v. Florida Power & Light Co.*, 899 So.2d 1105, 1110 (Fla. 2005); *Irven v. Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services*, 790 So.2d 403, 406 n. 2 (Fla. 2001). Although the district court purported to view the facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs, it will be apparent as we proceed that the district court wandered across this line in several respects.

Devilla that the stroke had occurred between 11:00 and 11:15 (T. 629-37, 640, 649, 671-72, 1225-26, 1232). He departed the scene with Mr. Cox at 11:33, radioed a "stroke alert" to the Hospital, and delivered Mr. Cox to the Hospital's emergency room at 11:39 (T. 496-98, 632-40).

The triage of Mr. Cox was delayed until 11:50, and for some reason that is not adequately explained by the evidence, the triage nurse wrote on Mr. Cox's "primary triage assessment" that the stroke was of "unknown onset" (T. 500-10, 1329-30).³/ It is undisputed on the record that "unknown" does not mean "unknowable," and that the single most important piece of information that must be gathered when a stroke patient arrives in an emergency room is the time of onset of the stroke (T. 484, 489, 503-05, 590, 698, 710-14, 735-36, 818-20, 866-73, 980, 1014, 1747-56).

This information is of critical importance because there is a three-hour window for intravenous administration of a tissue plasminogen activator drug (tPA), a clot-busting drug that is often effective in reversing the effects of a stroke (T. 811-14, 987, 1564-65). And because this information is so critical, neither an

Mr. Cox's chart does not itself explain where this information came from (T. 510, 596). Lt. Oliver had no memory of telling the triage nurse that the onset of the stroke was unknown, but conceded that he might have; and he conceded that he might not have reported the information he had received from Mr. Devilla, but stated that, had anyone asked him if he had learned additional information from which the time of onset might be determined, he would have elaborated upon his conversation with Mr. Devilla (T. 641, 666-68, 671-73). The triage nurse also had no memory of where she obtained the information, but assumed it had been

ER physician nor ER nurses can accept "unknown onset" as the last word; rather, they simply must seek out the information from every possible source available to them -- from family, from friends, and especially from anyone who might be in the waiting room (T. 492-95, 503-05, 513-16, 530-31, 590-93, 701-02, 818-25, 832-33, 853, 866-68, 916, 937-43, 976-79, 991, 1005).

Well within the three-hour window for the administration of tPA, there were five people who knew the time of onset, four of whom were actually at the emergency room. Lt. Oliver did not leave the emergency room until 12:31, 52 minutes after his arrival (T. 640-41). Although he had reported that Mr. Cox had been found by a "worker" five minutes before his arrival, and this information was in Mr. Cox's chart in Dr. Castellucci's own handwriting, he was not questioned about his conversation with Mr. Devilla (T. 509-14, 533-34, 641, 721-23, 832). He also could have been reached by radio after he left the hospital, but he was not contacted (T. 641).

Mr. Devilla had also told Ms. Rendon and Mrs. Cox about his normal conversation with Mr. Cox less than 15 minutes before he called 911 at 11:15, and all three of them were in the emergency room's waiting room for extended periods of time -- but were never questioned as to what they knew about the time of onset (T. 1189-94, 1208, 1214-15, 1223, 1371-73, 1375-76, 1431). Indeed, Mrs. Cox arrived at noon and remained there throughout the remainder of the three-hour

window of opportunity, but Dr. Castellucci never talked to her (T. 1370, 1375-76, 1408-14, 1418). Mr. Cox's adult son had also been given the same information and was at home, available by telephone, but no one sought the information from him either (T. 1267-69).

According to the emergency room nurse assigned to Mr. Cox's primary care, there was no need for her to seek out information from these persons because the "onset was already assessed" (T. 725). And because the triage nurse's assessment was "unknown onset," Mr. Cox was not treated as a "stroke alert" patient; rather, he was simply treated as a stroke patient -- one who, because the time of onset was not known, was not a candidate for tPA (T. 528-29, 543-45, 606-07, 730-33, 754-55, 843).

Although Dr. Castellucci testified that a CT scan of Mr. Cox's brain should have been ordered within 10 minutes and its results returned within 45 minutes after the patient's arrival in the emergency room, he was not notified to see the patient for 36 minutes, and did not see Mr. Cox until 12:15 (T. 498, 505-06, 546). At 12:30, 51 minutes after Mr. Cox's arrival in the emergency room, Dr. Castellucci wrote orders for several tests, including a CT scan, which is critical to determine if the patient is a candidate for tPA -- and ordered that Dr. Kotwal be called (T. 520-25, 602-05, 829, 1149-53, 1171). Although Dr. Kotwal was an internist, the Hospital's protocol required that he be called to make the decision as to whether to bring in a neurologist, who was the only specialist qualified to order

administration of tPA (T. 477, 563-65, 814).

It took the nursing staff another 23 minutes to request a CT scan; the order was finally "taken off" at 12:53 (T. 524-554). The three-hour window for administration of tPA closed between 2:00 and 2:15 (T. 841). The results of the CT scan were not faxed to the emergency room until 2:58, nearly two and one-half hours after Dr. Castellucci had ordered it -- a delay that one of the plaintiffs' experts characterized as "unconscionable" (T. 527-28, 837-39). Dr. Kotwal was not called until 4:00, three and one-half hours after Dr. Castellucci ordered that he be called, and he was not reached; he was called again at 4:15 and returned the call at 4:24 (T. 1158-62). The on-call neurologist, Dr. Berges, was finally reached at 5:53 -- much too late for tPA to be given to Mr. Cox (T. 477, 1165-66).

All of the test results that were ultimately returned to Dr. Castellucci -including the CT scan -- were essentially normal, and the *only* thing in Mr. Cox's
chart that would have prevented Mr. Cox from obtaining tPA was the triage
nurse's initial assessment that the onset of the stroke was "unknown" (T. 528-29,
543-45, 602-07, 974, 1058-64, 1567). The consequences of this neglect were
devastating (T. 811) -- but because the defendants raised no challenge below to the
amounts of the jury's damage awards, we will spare the Court the tragic details.

At trial, Dr. Castellucci himself was highly critical of the conduct of the Hospital's nurses (T. 503-05, 514-15, 526-28, 531, 618). And as the Court might expect, there was abundant, highly-qualified expert opinion testimony establishing

that the conduct of both Dr. Castellucci and the Hospital's nurses rose to the level of "reckless disregard" for the health and welfare of Mr. Cox (T. 810-11, 832-33, 843-44, 941-49, 976-79, 991, 1005). The defendants did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury's finding of "reckless disregard," but they did challenge the jury's additional finding that their "reckless disregard" of Mr. Cox's health and welfare was a cause of damage. The evidence supporting the jury's finding of causation came from two sources, Dr. Nancy Futrell and Dr. Eddy Berges.

C. Dr. Nancy Futrell.

Dr. Futrell obtained her medical degree from the University of Utah Medical School; did an internship in internal medicine there; did an additional year of neurology there; and then went to the University of Miami where she finished her neurology training and did a stroke fellowship (T. 1037). From there, she practiced neurology and stroke care at Henry Ford Hospital (T. 1038). Subsequently, she was director of the stroke center at Creighton University; she started a stroke center at the Medical College of Ohio, and became chairperson of its neurology department (T. 1038-39). She then returned to Utah where she started the Intermountain Stroke Center in Salt Lake City (T. 1040).

She is board certified in the following specialities: neurocineology (ultrasound of the blood vessels and brain); neuroimaging (reading CT scans and MRI scans of the brain); and vascular neurology (stroke specialist), and she was

instrumental in establishing a certification program for this specialty (T. 1041-43). She has written a practice test book for the vascular neurology certification examination (T. 1044). And she has performed as a "CT Scan Images Analysis Contracts Investigator" in two multi-center national clinical trials, analyzing between 900 and 1100 CT scans of stroke patients (T. 1044-46).

She has served on the editorial boards of the following journals: "Stroke, a Journal of Cerebral Circulation"; "Surgical Neurology," an international journal; "The Journal of Stroke and Cerebral Diseases," where she was also an editor (T. 1046-47). She is currently serving on the editorial board of Europe's premier journal, "Cerebral Vascular Diseases" (T. 1047-48). She has lectured on the treatment of strokes at major institutions in the United States and in Europe at least 40 or 50 times, and does so several times a year (T. 1048). And she is a member of the board of directors of two organizations that certify MRI scanning facilities and CT scanning facilities (T. 1049-51).

The defendants did not challenge Dr. Futrell's qualifications to testify as an expert. She gave the following opinions on the causation issue in the case:

- Q. Before we find out how you got to your conclusions, tell us what your conclusions were.
- A. Well, my conclusions were that Mr. Cox arrived at the emergency room in the appropriate time window to receive T.P.A., that he was an appropriate candidate for T.P.A. and that all of the indications we have from his clinical status in the emergency room and the CT in the emergency room suggests that he probably would have

had a very good outcome had he received the medication.

. . . .

- Q. . . . Dr. Futrell, after you've reviewed all the records, reviewed the depositions, the transcripts, reviewed the facts of this case about Mr. Cox, do you have an opinion more likely than not within a reasonable degree of medical probability whether had Mr. Cox been given T.P.A. under the circumstances of this case, whether he would have gained a benefit and whether or not his stroke would have resolved or been significantly lessened as a result of the use of T.P.A.?
- A. I believe to a high degree of medical probability that Mr. Cox, had he received T.P.A., would have had a very good recovery and have minimal or no neurologic deficit.

. . . .

Q. ... Now ma'am, you've also told this jury that it's your opinion that if the patient had been given this, he would have made an almost complete recovery or very minimal problems; is that correct?

A. Yes.

(T. 1052-53, 1076-77, 1097; emphasis supplied). There were no objections to this opinion testimony.

The defendants' principal contention at trial was that Mr. Cox was not a candidate for tPA because he had had a subdural hematoma two and one-half years before his stroke, and a prior subdural hematoma was listed as a

"contraindication" for the use of tPA in the manufacturer's package insert approved by the FDA. In a subsequent subsection of our statement, we will elaborate upon this defense by detailing the abundant evidence supporting the jury's rejection of it, but we mention it here because Dr. Futrell addressed it in some detail in explaining how and why she reached the conclusion she did.

To begin with, she testified that she was not sure if Mr. Cox had ever had a prior subdural hematoma, because the report of one CT scan said he did, and the report for a CT scan taken six weeks later said he did not -- facts that were also established by the physician who had treated Mr. Cox two and one-half years earlier (T. 1053, 1633, 1643-44, 1649). She then testified that she reviewed the CT scan taken of Mr. Cox's brain after his stroke and could see no sign that there had ever been a significant subdural hematoma -- nothing, no sign of any damage in his brain whatsoever -- nothing that would relate to any risk of administering tPA (T. 1054).

Mr. Cox's CT scan was then displayed to the jury and explained in considerable detail. Dr. Futrell testified that the scan revealed a brain that looked much younger than Mr. Cox's stated age; that there was no sign of any fresh bleeding in the brain; that there was no sign whatsoever that Mr. Cox had had a prior bleed into his brain; and that the scan showed nothing to suggest that tPA treatment should be withheld (T. 1055-60). Indeed, based upon her analysis of the CT scan, Dr. Futrell described Mr. Cox's brain as "super normal," and stated that

he was a "great candidate" for tPA. She also testified that she had treated 40-50 patients with tPA -- three of whom had things listed as "contraindications," and that all three of them had gone back to work (T. 1067, 1137).

Finally, Dr. Futrell explained how she reached her opinion that Mr. Cox "would have had a very good recovery and had minimal or no neurological deficit":

Q. How can you tell us that?

A. Well, there are a number of things and it's a combination of what we can find in the medical literature and clinical experience that I have from having given the drug and seeing which patient it works on and, of course, we have the additional resource of our colleagues that we know what's happened to their cases. We also discuss our good outcomes and our bad outcomes and we hone each other's skills that way. And basically the data are that in patients who are given T.P.A. within the three-hour window who are appropriate candidates, the best study that kept mostly good, kept the protocol violators out was from Canada and it was written by a guy name[d] Alastair Bookman. He was able --

[An objection was sustained at this point]

Q. (By Mr. Brennan [counsel for plaintiffs]) I asked a too open-en[d]ed question and I apologize. From all you know and all you've seen about this case, is it your opinion T.P.A. would have worked on Mr. Cox had he been given it?

A. Yes.

(T. 1077-78).

D. Dr. Eddy Berges.

Dr. Berges was the on-call neurologist who would have determined whether tPA treatment of Mr. Cox was warranted. On April 17, 2003 -- almost a year and one-half after suit had been filed and more than three and one-half years before the trial commenced, Dr. Berges provided plaintiffs' counsel with a letter in which he expressed his expert opinions on the case (R. 1; T. 1, 1558-63, 1586-87, 1594). In that letter he opined that, within a reasonable degree of medical probability, if he had been called within the three-hour window, he would have treated Mr. Cox with tPA, and more likely than not, Mr. Cox would have benefitted and his neurodeficits would have resolved and been reversed (T. 1569-70). In a deposition taken by the defendants eight days before trial, Dr. Berges reaffirmed the opinions he had previously held, based on the information he had at the time, but recanted the opinions on the ground that he now knew that Mr. Cox had a prior subdural hematoma (T. 1, 1557, 1567, 1571, 1587, 1594, 1606).

On cross-examination during the deposition, plaintiffs' counsel established that Dr. Berges had staff privileges at the defendant-Hospital; that, after he had provided his opinion letter in this case, he had been sued for giving tPA to a patient in another case; and that he had changed his opinion in this case after he

⁴ The letter itself was excluded from evidence; it was marked PX2 for ID, and can be found at R. 2627-29 (T. 1628-30). Portions of the letter were disclosed to the jury through the deposition testimony read at trial.

was sued (T. 1592-93). The defendants' principal defense below was bottomed upon Dr. Berges' recantation. At an appropriate place in our argument, we will explain why the jury was entitled to believe Dr. Berges' initial opinion and reject his recantation. For the moment, we will explain why the jury was entitled to reject the defendants' principal defense, even if it believed the recantation.

E. The "subdural hematoma" defense.

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