IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1771

WILLIAM COX and MARTHA COX,

Petitioners,

vs.

ST. JOSEPH'S HOSPITAL , ERIC CASTELLUCCI, M.D. and EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION OF FLORIDA, LLC,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

RESPONDENT, ST. JOSEPH'S HOSPITAL'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petition should be denied because the Petitioners failed to establish legal causation as required by Florida law.

Petitioners sued St. Joseph's for failing to record Mr. Cox's stroke onset such that tPA could be given him. According to the warning from the drug manufacturer and approved by the Food and Drug Administration, tPA is not to be given to patients with a prior history of subdural hematoma because it can cause additional or extensive bleeding or death. This "contraindication" is contained in the manufacturer's package insert, in the Physician's Desk Reference (PDR), and is

approved by the FDA. Petitioners' own expert testified that it would not be a breach to refuse to give tPA when contraindicated.(T. 1128). The contraindications were included in the Physician's Desk Reference (PDR) which the expert also upon upon. (T. 1080-1). In addition, the evidence failed to show that administration of tPA more likely than not will prevent a stroke victim from sustaining the same injuries from the stroke. At the time of the stroke, the protocol for tPA required its administration to the patient within 3 hours of onset of the stroke. Because Mr. Cox was not a candidate for tPA according to FDA and the manufacturer, the failure to give him the drug cannot be a legal cause of his injuries as a matter of law. Additionally the NINDS Study, recognized as authoritative by Petitioners' expert witness on causation reflects that tPA would only improve Mr. Cox's recovery 11% of the time and therefore could not more likely than not prevent the same injuries. (T. 1099-1101). The Second District was correct in its holding that there was no legal causation established between the allegations of negligence against St. Joseph's and Mr. Cox's injuries. Even if tPA had been administered, no legal causation was established by Petitioners because the manufacturer's warnings approved by the FDA and the NINDS Study all concluded that tPA is not to be given to a patient with a prior subdural hematoma. Dr. Berges, the attending neurologist, testified that he would not have given the tPA even if he knew the onset was within 3 hours because of the drug's contraindication for prior subdural

hematomas. Because Mr. Cox would have never been a candidate for tPA, it could not have been negligent for the hospital to report the time of stroke onset unknown. Additionally, all of the clinical studies for tPA show it would not have given Mr. Cox a 51% improvement over what his recovery would be without tPA. It is essential to note Petitioners' own causation expert agreed that the NINDS Study was authoritative. Her conclusion that Mr. Cox would have better results than the general patient population had no foundation in her clinical experience or background and was merely *ipse dixit*.

There were six additional reversible errors committed at the trial, which Respondents raised in the Second District. These issues do not fall within the Court's jurisdiction as there is no express and direct conflict. Therefore, Respondent asks that any consideration of these additional issues be remanded to the Second District for review, only if necessary, in the event the Petition is granted.

As a second reversible error, the trial court erred in by failing to give a jury instruction on causation according to *Gooding v. University Hospital Building, Inc.* 445 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 1984). The requirement in *Gooding* that the alleged negligent act be a 51% or greater cause of Mr. Cox's damages distinguished this standard from the mere "loss of a chance" to avoid stroke injuries. The failure to give the special jury instruction left the jury with an improper standard by which to

weigh the evidence. This would necessarily cause a reversible error in the inaccuracies of the guidelines given the jury on causation.

As a third reversible error, the trial court permitted a nurse from Tampa General, to testify that tPA is given at this separate hospital even if the patient had a prior subdural hematoma. This was error because: 1) she testified outside her area of expertise, contrary to well-established Florida law; 2) she is neither a neurologist, internal medicine specialist, emergency room physician, or even a doctor. Yet, this nurse was permitted to testify regarding her perceptions of the tPA administration by doctors at another hospital. Her testimony was incompetent, irrelevant and speculative, and therefore should have been excluded. Also, to the extent she testified about actions taken by other doctors at another hospital, she was impermissibly bolstering her testimony with the opinions of out-of-court experts, without an opportunity for St. Joseph's to cross-examine the physicians who actually administered the tPA at Tampa General.

A fourth reversible error was committed by the admission of testimony that St. Joseph's had failed to acquire "informed consent" from Mrs. Cox, by explaining to her the risks of tPA therapy and having her make the decision of whether to take those risks. The case as pled against St. Joseph's did not contain any allegations about the hospital's failure to obtain "informed consent" from Mrs. Cox, nor could it have pursuant to Florida law; obtaining "informed consent" is not a legal duty of

a hospital in any event. This was not only an abuse of discretion in the admission of an entirely new theory of causation to be brought up at trial, but was outside the legal duties charged to a hospital, and was wildly speculative as well.

Additionally, Dr. Eddy Berges, was compelled by the trial court to render an expert opinion even though Florida law holds this is reversible error for a number of reasons, including the fact that the treating physician may not have access to all of the pertinent facts in order to render an expert opinion, and should not be compelled to render an opinion if he feels he may not be in the capacity to adequately do so. In this case, Dr. Berges testified that he was not aware of the history of Mr. Cox's prior subdural hematoma.

The trial court failed to setoff the medical expenses incurred by the Ministry of Health in Ontario for the bills they incurred in light of the fact that it was not seeking any recovery from the Respondents. Finally, the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence, and the combination of errors at trial constitutes a separate basis for reversal and remand.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: WHEN CONFLICT IS PRESENTED ON THE ADMISSIBILITY OF A MEDICAL EXPERT OPINION WHEN PETITIONERS' EXPERT ACCEPTED THE NINDS STUDY AS AUTHORITATIVE AND HER CONCLUSION THAT MR. COX WOULD MORE LIKELY THAN NOT HAVE DONE BETTER THAN THE GENERAL PATIENT POPULATION WAS WITHOUT ANY FOUNDATION AND *IPSE DIXIT*

The Petition should be denied because: a) Petitioner's expert on causation did not have a "sufficient basis", and lacked foundation, to render the opinion predicated on either the generally accepted knowledge of the medical community, her own experience or training, as required by section 90.705, Florida Statutes; b) the other jurisdictions which have reviewed the causal link of the failure to administer tPA to a patient have held a plaintiff cannot show that such failure "more likely than not" led to the plaintiff's injuries; c) Petitioners' expert's opinion relied upon an impermissible stacking of inferences, d) there is no similarity to cases where the expert opinion is challenged because of the failure to rely on an epidemiological study, or where there was an intrusion into the province of the finder of fact; and e) amendment to section 90.705 did not negate the requirement of a "sufficient basis" for an expert opinion; it merely changed the procedure for admission of the basis.

A) PETITIONER'S EXPERT'S OPINION HAD AN "INSUFFICIENT BASIS" AS DEFINED BY SECTION 90.705, FLORIDA STATUTES

Petitioner contends there is a conflict presented by the Opinion because the Second District held the testimony of Dr. Futrell and Dr. Berges was insufficient to present a *prima facie* case in order to defeat Respondent's motion for directed verdict. For the reasons expressed herein, the Opinion is entirely consistent with the holdings of this Court and all other jurisdictions which have considered the same issue regarding tPA therapy for stroke victims. Petitioners argue that a *prima facie* case is shown when an expert testifies to a conclusion without any foundation, i.e. the expert's saying it makes it so. Neither Florida's Evidence Code, Florida's common law, nor common logic support such a holding. If such were the case, there would never be a basis for a directed verdict if an expert were willing to testify as to any conclusion without regard as to whether the expert is extrapolating from existing data, or is rendering an opinion on a guess, unsupported by any clinical research or result.

The Opinion does not stand for the proposition that if there is a study of any sort which contradicts the conclusion of the expert then a directed verdict must be granted. Instead, the Second District concludes that when an expert recognizes a study as authoritative, such as the NINDS study here, and renders an opinion that runs entirely contrary to that study, without any verifiable, independent scientific basis, that opinion must be considered incompetent, without foundation, and insufficient evidence to go to a jury, or to defeat a directed verdict motion.

It is essential to note that the record in this case establishes Dr. Futrell's reliance upon the NINDS study as the only authoritative study. Even though that study unquestionably holds that 11% of patients receiving tPA will benefit from the therapy, and a total of 31% overall will have favorable results (which includes a 20% patient poll receiving placebo), Dr. Futrell opines she has the exclusive

talent of determining the 100% patient population who will fall into the 11% (or 31%) which will have a favorable outcome. This is the sole basis for her ultimate conclusion that Mr. Cox "more likely than not" would have had a favorable outcome had he received tPA.

Fundamental to the Second District's decision was the recognition that Dr. Futrell accepted and relied upon the NINDS study and had no clinical studies of her own which applied to Mr. Cox's physical condition. Although she testified she had administered tPA in other instances which were contraindicated, she admitted that none of those cases involved prior subdural hematomas. The reason this distinction is so important is that tPA, as a clot-busting drug, has been characterized as "dangerous" by all of the medical experts, including Dr. Futrell. The reason it is dangerous is that it can actually cause a brain bleed when there would otherwise not be one, and this can result in death of the patient. Dr. Futrell did not have any other statistics on this. Again, Dr. Futrell did not have any explanation for the factual relationship for use in one contraindication as applied to Mr. Cox's other than her review of Mr. Cox's CT scan. She labeled Mr. Cox as having a "super-normal brain" because it did not show the signs of aging she would expect to see. She expressed no clinical experience with a patient with a "supernormal brain" and gave no definition of what would, or would not be, a "supernormal brain". Beyond this she could not connect the dots of why or how a "supernormal brain" would jump from 11% to 51% in expectations of relief from tPA. This was another inference made by Dr. Futrell without any support, and another *ipse dixit*.

In order to defeat Respondent's motions for directed verdict, Petitioners were required to offer competent evidence that the failure to administer tPA to Mr. Cox was a 51% or greater cause of Mr. Cox's injuries. *See Gooding v. University Hospital Building, Inc.,* 445 So. 2d 1015, 1018 (Fla. 1984). Petitioner's causation expert, Dr. Futrell, was willing to so state but she had no clinical, empirical data to support such a conclusion.

tPA's manufacturer and the FDA, all warn that tPA is not to be given if the patient has suffered a prior subdural hematoma. There was no dispute in the record that Mr. Cox had a prior subdural hematoma, 2 ½ years before the stroke. Another insurmountable causal break, which was undisputed, was that Dr. Berges would not have administered tPA in any event because of Mr. Cox's prior subdural hematoma. It is a mischaracterization to characterize Dr. Berges' testimony as a recanting of any sort. The letter he signed was never admitted into evidence. Thus, there was no "recanting" since he singularly concluded tPA should be administered to Mr. Cox. Thus, it is not an instance of an expert's opinion being challenged on credibility grounds. Dr Berges did not render an opinion to challenge. The cases cited by Petitioners on this point all involve the admission of

competent testimony, which is matched by other competent testimony to alternate facts. *See Haislet v. Crowley*, 170 So. 2d 88 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964). Therefore, the evidence did not, and could not, show that St. Joseph's more likely than not caused Mr. Cox's stroke injuries. For these reasons, the Second District properly determined the trial court erred in failing to grant a directed verdict and JNOV in favor of St. Joseph's.

Florida law has long held that the mere possibility of causation is insufficient to allow a claimant to recover. See Gooding; Greene v. Flewelling, 366 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). In the present case, there was no evidence to support the contention that if the hospital nurses had determined the time of onset, and a neurologist for a consult had been contacted, then a reasonable neurologist would have given tPA to Mr. Cox. Petitioners' own expert, Dr. Medoff, admitted that it would *not* be a breach of the standard of care to follow the FDA and drug manufacturer's guidelines. If it is not a breach by a physician to refuse to give tPA to a patient with a contraindication, it is illogical to conclude that it could constitute a breach as well. Dr. Futrell opined that she questioned Mr. Cox's prior history but she did not go so far as to say a physician should disregard charted evidence of subdural hematoma and surmise that those medical records are just wrong. Because of Mr. Cox's prior history of subdural hematoma, it would have been a departure from the relevant medical protocol on tPA administration which provides that tPA is contraindicated with a prior history of intracranial hemorrhage. Therefore, it would be pure speculation that, had a neurologist been called within 3 hours of the onset of symptoms, the neurologist would have ordered the administration of tPA, since it was contraindicated. *See Jackson County Hospital Corp. v. Aldrich*, 835 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

Petitioners first contend the Opinion is in conflict with *Wale v. Barnes*, 278 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1973). The basis for their argument is the contention that once the expert says the "magic words" that a health care provider's actions have "more likely than not caused the plaintiff's injuries" then there is nothing more for the court to consider and the case should always proceed to the jury. *Wale* did not involve a challenge to the expert's foundation for the opinion as is presented here. Instead, the plaintiff's witness testified the defendant doctor used the wrong type of forceps for delivery of an infant with a molded or elongated head. There was no challenge to the *foundation* of the opinion.

For the same reason, the other progeny of *Wale* relied upon by Petitioners do not support the petition and are distinguishable. In *Hughes v. Slomka*, 807 So. 2d 98, 100 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), the court reviewed the testimony of the plaintiff's expert who opined that if the defendant doctor had checked the pulse in the leg at a critical point in time, the amputation of the leg would have been spared. Again, there was no challenge to the *foundation* of the opinion. Similarly, in *Lawrinson v*.

Bartruff, 600 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) there was *no* challenge to plaintiff's causation expert who testified that the defendant's delay in diagnosis in Merkel cell skin cancer caused him to have more of his face excised.

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